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Mr. Nelson, tell us a little bit about your family-
your mother and father, your early days of growing
up as a child,

N Well, my father was born on March 2, 1879, on a farm
near a small town called Morlunda in Sweden. Dad
was the youngest of eight children in his family. In
Sweden, as is the custom in many European countries,
the oldest son inherits the farm. Dad being number
eight in line felt there were greener pastures else~-
where, so he declded tc come to America., He came to
America without learning to speak Fnglish., He set-
fled in northwestern Pennsyivania where he pot a Jjob
driving a team of horses in 2 lumber camp, and worked,
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earned money and learned the English language. He
later changed jobs and became a laborer in a carbon
black factory. After a few years with this comnpany,
he became the manager of that carbon black factory,
and a year or two later, became the general manager
not only of that factory, but of the entire company.
By this time he had moved into northern West Virginia
and his headquarters were in the vicinity of Weston,
West Virginia.

The carbon black industry was starting te grow and the
0il and gas business was growing at that time in this
particular area, Two gentlemen took a likinp to my
father and decided to try to enter business with him.
Mr. T. A. Whelan and Mr, T, F. Kolbegard approached

my father and sald, "Oscar, we have watched your busi-
ness dealings and we would 1ike to form a three-way
partnership with you.’ They offered my father a verwv
substantial amount of money to start a new company,
with dad contributing his time and effort in the three-
way partnership. This was the formaticon of the Kosmos
Carbon Company.

As the carbon black industry grew, this company con-
tinued to grow, not only in the production and sale of
carbon black in the United States and in the world,
but also in driliing for and producing of oil and gas.
As the carbon black industry became much larger, with
many companies producing the product, there was soon
much overproduction and overcapacity in the industry.
Through my father's leadership, they combined seven-
teen of these companies into a new company called
United Carbon Company. For many years thereafter,
United Carbon Company was one of the principle manu~
facturers and procducers of carbon black in the Unlted
States, and in fact, in the world,

Now, as to my mother, Harriet Engstrom, when my father
was working inithe Weston-Clarksburg, West Virginia
area, he met Harriet Engstrom, whose father was a
superintendent of one of these carbon black factories,
Eventually, in the year 1920, Oscar Nelson and Harriet
Engstrom were married in Clarksburg, West Virginia.
The company continued to grow and prosper, and in

1921 the offices of the company were moved to Charles-
ton, West Virginia, where my father and mother made
thelr home until my father's death in 1953. My mother
continues to reside in Charleston, West Virginia.

Leoking back, my father--having come from a farm in
Sweden and with his success in business in the United
States-~always had the desire to get back to the land.
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So, in the early 1930's he decided he would like to
have a farm, not only for his own profit and enjoy-
ment, but 1t was his ccnsidered opinion that a farm
would be the best place fTo raise his growing family
of three sons and one daughter, With my mother, he
set out from Charleston in different directicns look-
ing for a suitable farm property. After about a year,
having gone each direction from Charieston for first
twenty~five miles and then [ifty miles, and then one
hundred miles, he came across a setting two-and-one-
half miles west of Lewisburg, in Greenbrier County,
Wegt Virginia. As he looked down and saw this olad
red brick farmhouse on gently rolling ground, he said,
"That reminds me of my home in Sweden; T hope that we
can make a deal to purchase that farm," After some
time passed, they were able to secure the original
Morlunda Farm, which was some 285 acres. This was
acquired in 1933 in the midst of the Depression.

Dad first decided to get the fences in good shape
where they would contain livestock, They then laid
plans to remodel the main house where he and mother
could spend weekends and later their retirement
years, and at the same time, expose thelr chilildren
to farm life, They spent their first night on the
farm July 4, 1934,

The farm originally was stocked with dairy cows,
sheep, and a few two-year cld steers. Dad soon de-
cided that we did not want to be in the dalry busi-
ness, After talking with interested livestock and
agricultural specialists throughout West Virginia and
the east, he decided that the (reenbrier County farm
was more adapted to a beef cattle operation, We s00n
made plans to go into the beef cattle business. My
father was also attracted to draft horses, because as
a young man he had driven teams of horses many, many
hours. He scon acaguired some excellent draft horses.
The initial plan was to go into the beef cattle busi-
ness with a cow and calf program and to stock the
farm with very fine draft horses to perform the work
on the farm. As we four children were growing up, it
was only natural that we would also have a pony,

As time progressed, we decided to go into the Short-
horn beef cattle business. This was done primarily

becausge our neighbor, Mr. H., B. Wilson, and his bro-
ther, Mr. Frank Wilson, were then the owners of Val-
leyview Farms, a fine Shorthorn breeding cattle oper-
ation, It was quite natural that we leaned upon the
Wilsons for early advice in the cattle business. It
was also gulte natural that the Wilsons tried to sell
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us Shorthorn cattle. More will be gaild about this in
the Tature, This seemed to be the easiest route to
take because here were people offering us advice,
They had a supply of cattle which we were able to
buy. The cattle were acclimated to this environment,
and it seemed the natural thing to do, Looking back--
and we all learn more by looking back--=we soon found
that one of the things we did not properly appraise
was our marketing program for the future. Were
Shorthorns as marketable in our area as other cattle
breeds? AT any rate, we started with purebred
Shorthorn cattle, and we went throughout the United
States, where we bought the best Shorthorn cattle
available in 1934, 1935, and 1936, paying $1,000 or
$1,500 for many of the bred heifers or cows. As one
looks back, $1,000 or $1,500 in the early 1930's was
quite a bit of money. Consider current inflation and
what the dollar has done sinece then.

We began fto spend more time on the farm, primarily
weekends, because Mother and Dad and the family were
living in Charleston where Dad was working. The
children are: Oscar Nelson, Jr,, the interviewee, who
was then aboul age twelve; Anna Marie, who was elght;
Thomas Arthur, who was six; and Eric, who was four.
The oldest son and the daughter showed a definite
liking to the farm 1life, Needless to say, the other
two sons, Tom and Eric, later developed the same in-
terest, but at the time we are talking about in past
history, they were too young to exert any definite
intereat in the farm.

Here we were with the original Knapp farm of 285 acres.
Dad's criginal intent having been accomplished, he

saw that the family was enjoying the farm life, and

he continued tc feel that the farm land would be a
good investment. He enJoyed the farm and enjoyed ex-
cellent livestock, So, the next decision to be made
was——1s thls farm of 285 acres sufficiently large for
the future, or should he go about planning to buy ad-
ditional land?

About two years later, he did acquire the Skaggs Farm
adjoining the main farm. The Skaggs Farm was about

160 acres. Three years later we acquired the Gallagher
Farm of 394 acres; the following year another farm

of 110 acres. Now, we had basically four farms. Since
there were four children in the Nelgson family and now
all were growing in age and in stature and liking the
farm, each of these four farms soon were given a nick-
name., The home farm or main farm was socon thought of
as "Anna Marie's farm." The big Gallagher Farm of 394
acres was called "Tom's Farm," The Handley Farm of

110 acres was called "Eric's Farm."
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As additional land was acgquired, it became neaessary
to stock said farms with additional livestock, and
we took our first turn toward changing the livestock
nature at Morlunda Farms, Up until this time, the
irst two Carmg had been stocked primarily with the
finest Shorthorn cattle that money could buy. But
when the additional farms of 394 acres and 110 acres
were acgulired, Dad met with us and salid, "We have a
problem. We cannot afford to stock these additiional
farms with these $1,000 Shorthorn cows.”

Dad had a friend in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, by the
name of Robert T. Wilson. Mr. Wilson, one of the
original incorporators of the Shamrock 0il and Gas
Company, was a friend of my father through the oil
and gas business. Dad knew Mr. Wilson had a large
cattle ranch in Arizcona. On one of their business
trips, Dad spoke with Wilson about his newly acauilred
farms and said he was in the market for another line
of cattle, whereupon Mr., Wilson priced him two car-~
loads of Hereford cows, One carload at $110 per head
and the other carlocad at $75 per head, and if we
bought the two carloads of cows at that price, he
would throw in two good bulls free, This was quite

a comparison to the $1,000 Shorthorn cows that we

had been purchasing. So, we bought the horned Here-
ford cattle from Mr. Wilson and brought them tc Mor-
lunda and put them on the two newly-acquired farms,

A yvear later at Jackson's Mill, West Virginia, there
wag a tri-breed bull sale in which farmers from all
over West Virginia took theilr best bulls and sold them
in this commercial bull sale. Morlunda took one of
its fine Shorthorn bulls to that sale and 1t brought
$250. We took two of our ordinary Hereford bulls to
that sale and they brought $410 and $435 each, Right
away my father said, "Maybe we're in the wrong busi-~
ness. Maybe we're trying to market the wrong product.”
We then did further study iIntc the marketing aspects
of the Shorthorn cattle and the Hereford cattle, and
we soon came to the ccnclusion that we had, unfortu-
nately, started with the wrong breed of cattle for
the West Virginia market. That is not to say that
the Shorthorn cattle were not a fine breed of cattle,
as they have many advantages and do possess a fine
market in certain areas of the United States and
throughout the world. But within our marketing ter-
ritory, there seemed no doubt that the Hereford cat-
tle were the preferred product. We then made defi-
nite plans to go into the Hereford business 1In a sub-
stantial way and made plang to liquidafte our Short-
horn cattle.
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Up untll this time we didn't have many real fine Per-
cheron horses on the farm, maybe four or five real
good Percheron mares. At that time, Mr, E1i Lilly

of E11 Lilly and Company, the famous drug producer,
was also the owner of a fine livestock cperation
called Conner Prairie Farms at Noblesville, Indiana.
S0, we worked up a deal with Mr, Lilly and traded him
most of our Shorthorn cattle for some of his very
fine Percheron horses and some cash. This deal was
guite satisfactory to both parties, and we were now
in a better position to go forward with horned Here-
ford cattle in a big way.

By the year 1939, our Hereford herd was increasing
both in size and in guality. Prior to that time, no
farm in the eastern part of the United States had ever
put on a private auction of thelir hreeding cattle.

On April 22, 1939, Morlunda Farms went public with the
first private auction of Hereford cattle ever held
east of the Mississippi River, As T recall, we sold
70 head of cattle for an average of $353 per head.

The highest priced bull brought $1500. This was the
first of many auctions later to be held at Morlunda
Farms.

This first auction was held in a tent. Due to the suc-
cess cof this sale, my father felt that we should con-
sider this as one of our prime marketing tools: and
then he bullt a large sale barn where we could hold

an annual auction sale. He felt the aucticn sale

had many advantages. First of all, it was a drawing
card to have people come in to see our livestack, see
what we were doing and tc establish a broader base for
future sales. If people could once come to Morlunda
and see what we were doing, they would then feel more
free to come back in the future and draw upon our ex-
perience and purchase livestock from us. ¥ o

The auction sale in those years was very rare, and there
was great excitement and enthusiasm. People would

drive hundreds of miles to go to an auction sale, as
this was a new thing. Remember, we're talking about
1939, Subseduent sales were held in 1940 and 1941

and every year thereafter. The auction sale prices
continued to climb,

Morlunda always felt that we should sell at least

70 head of cattle at auctions, whereas many auctions
today have only 30, 40 or 50 head, My father's ori-
ginal thinking back in those days was: Always sell

a substantial number at auctlons to help bring in a
better crowd of interested buyers, If you sell only
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35 or 40, people will not drive the distance to at-
tend the sales. Wherecas 1l vou sell a large number,
you are exposing yourself to a larger group of buy-
ers.

It was also his feellng that the sale should include
bulls, yvoung heifers that were open, two-yvear-old
heifers that were bred, and cows with calves at foot,
commonly called a three-in-~one. A cow would sell
with her calf at side and rebred so she had another
calf to be coming the next year, By selling cattle
in each category, my Tather felt that we were opening
up our marketing to many different types of people.
One might want to buy a heifer, or another might pre-
fer a cow and a calf. We did not want to rpo along
with the bhasis of selling all heifers or all bulls

or all cows and calves, but we wanted to have some-
thing available from each different category so that
all people would want to attend the sale and to share
in its production.

The sales at Morlunda continued to grow and prosper,
and we were guite happy with our sales. As the years
ragssed by, many other people learned the same thing,
and the private farm auction grew substantially.
Today, many breeders sell the bulk of their product
by private auctions,

There are, of course, pitfalls te the auction method.
Cne is the uncertainty of selling all or maybe half of
one's annual production on any one given day, A snow-~
sborm can prevent attendance, or excellent weather
could keep the prospective buyers at home to do their
planting or harvesting. There's also the standpoint
of the added cost of an auction, primarily that of
getting the animal fatter, because there is no color
prettier than fat in the livestock business., It costs
money tc put on extra, unneeded fat, but more 1mnor-
tantly, we have learned that putting extra fat on the
animals and particularly on the females is not con-
ducive to their future usefulness as a breeder or as

a producer of milk for thelr calves. In subseauent
years, Morlunda Farms has departed from the auction
route of selling its livestock. Today we sell nearly
all our livestock at private treaty.

Late in 1940, other business opportunities arose, and
Dad decided to sell twoe of the farms that had been
acquired. They were scld to raise cash to be put in
other investments. Subsequently, as business condi-
tions changed, farms have been added, and currently,
Morlunda Farms owns about 2,000 acres of land. In
addition to the 2,000 acres that we own, we rent a
substantial amount of proverty from other people.
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Morlunda Farms remained in the horned Hereford busi-
ness until 1964, TIn the fall of 1964, we were forced
to liquidate the entire herd of Morlunda horned Here-
ford cattle. This was done for tax reasons., In fact,
at that time 1t was felt that the farms might have

to be sold by the corporation to individual members

of the family. Later, we were able to find reliefl,
and today the farm properties are still owned by the
family corporation titled Oscar Nelscon, Incorporated.

We then had to make new plans as to what we were going
to do with the various farms and properties owned by
Morlunda ¥arms. A very thorough study was made as to
what should be dore, It was conclusively decided

that Morlunda Farms was designed and could be best
usged to house a beef cattle operation., All of the
Tamily wanted fo remain in the purebred business rather
than with commercial cattle, because we felt that over
the long term we could made a greater impact on the
future of the livestock industry of this ereat coun-
try by raising superior seed stock, Needless to say,
we hoped to benefit financially in this regard.

We then made a study whether to go back into the horned
Hereford business, whether toc enter the Polled Here-
ford industry, Aberdeen Angus, Charolais, or other
breeds of cattle. We definitely settled on the Pol-~
led Bereford breed as the cne for the future. As I
look back, I have never felt more secure that we made
the right decisicn in selecting Polled Hereford,

E: Mr. Nelson, tell me something about your relationship
with your father, your mother, and your brothers and
sister as you were growling up.

N: I'm glad you brcought this guestion up because I have
not talked about the relationship of my mother to
Morlunda Farms, T think this was one of the important
things in the operation of Morlunda Farms. My mother
was a true partner of my father in every respect, In
his businegs dealings at United Carbon Company and
his dealings at Morlunda Farms, she was alwavs a full
time partner at his side all the time. My mother
has the wonderful ability to remember names of people.
I'm sure this has contributed greatly to the success
of the entire Nelscon family over the vears, WMy fa~
ther, having come from Sweden and having spoken with
a Swedish accent, found it difficult to pronounce
certain words, This, coupled with my mother's excel-
lent and fluent knowledge of the English language,
made them a great palr as they would meet with people,
talk with people and 'do business,
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Dad was the type of man that, although he kept his
business to himself, he nevertheless did, for other
reasons, discuss freely with his wife and his child~
ren all conditions of business. At the same time,
by talking with my mother, my brothers, my sister and
me, it helped us develop intc people with business
knowledge, We felt that our father was one of the
greatest fteachers in the world, We always apprecia-
ted the fact that he spoke freely with us about any
type of problem that we wanted to discuss with him.

I think this is one thing that meant so much to the
Nelson Family over the years, T can see one of the
problems in the world today is that sc many parents
did not do this with thedr children. Perhaps this
is one of the reasons that sc many of the younger
generation seem to be going off on the wrong track.

E: What was a typical day like as a chilld? Pick any
day, commuted back and forth between Charleston and
the farm on weekends, but what was a tyoical day like
out here at the farm for you as a child?

N: Well, on a typical weekend day here at the farmwe
would get up and have breakfast as a family group.
Mother would then have certain chores to do around
the household. When my sister was old enough to help
her, she would perhaps help mother throughout the
morning. Dad and I, and as my brothers Tom and Eric
became older, would get in the car and drive arocund
the farm in company with our farm manager, lock at
the 1ivestock, look at the fences, loock at the build-
ings, talk about the problems, talk about the future,
and make plans for the future, and make plans to cor-
rect the problems that we had had in the past.

It was a free~flowing informatory session twenty-four
hours a day, not only with the Nelson Family but also
with the farm managers that we had at the time.

E: Can you remember the days of the Depression here at
Morlunda Farms?

N: TLuckily my father did have a substantial job in busi-
ness at the time, which of course is evidenced by the
fact that he was able tc purchase these farms during
the midst of the Depression. But I still do recall
that we were in the Depression and that we didn't have
steak for supper every night. My mother's planning
of meals was very frugal., Of course, families did not
have automcbiles in those days as we have today, so
we didn't have the problem of all the kids jumplng
in cars and golng to town. OQur entertainment at
night was listening to "Amos and Andv" on the radio.
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E: Over KDKA?
N: That might be right. {(Laughter) WLW, KDKA.

There was no televislon then. The trip to the movies
every two or three weeks was a ereat thing, But the
evening news broadcast, listining to "Amos and Andy"
or "Little Orphan Annie" was the bulk of vour outside
entertainment. Other entertainment we made for our-
seilves, discussing family problems, discussing the
future, trying to learn from each other,

E+ What was your schooling like? Where did you go to
gchool?

N: Well, speaking of myself, I attended public schools
in Charleston, West Virginia, through the first nine
and one-half years. Then T entered Greenbrier Mili-
tary School here in Lewlisburg, West Virginia. T was
a boarding student and entered Greenbrier Military
School in January of 1938, and attended AMS for two
and a half years, graduating in June of 1940, During,
this first two years of such military school training
I was a student in residence at the military school.
Buf for the last =2ix months, from January 'til June
of 1940, at that time being o0ld enough to drive a
car, I then moved out to the farm and commuted to
school each morning. I was very fond of military
school 1ife. I think that military schools taught
one discipline and they taught one leadersghip. These
are some of the things that worry me about many of
the younger generaticn today, Discipline is no longer
present as we used to think of it. I think that my
generation had far more discipline and respect than
some of the later generations, I think this is a
bilg problem in the world tcday, at least in our so-
called "free countries.,”

As far as sftudies were concerned, Greenbrier Military
School was a difficult school, It was rated very hipgh
scholastically. Of course, each summer I spent the
bulk of the time on the farm.

The fall of 1940, I entered the University of Pennsyl-
vania and was enrolled in the Wharton Scheool of Finance.
Having been associated cleosely with my father over the
years, not cnly on the farm, but also in learning about
the problems and operations of a large corporation,

I felt that the field of accounting was one which could
be used in any endeavor. As T look back,I am aquite
happy that I decided on the field of accounting, be-
cause it has taught me a 1ot about the cost of running
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any type of an operation and planning for the future.

E: What was the typical day like at Greenbrier Military
School?

H: Well, the bugle sounded, I believe it was at 6:15 a.m.
We had breakfast at 6:45 a,m., and our first inspec-
ticn was at 7+37. We then went to chapel for five
or ten minutes, and we then went straight through
classes until 1:10. We had lunch at 1:30 and at 2:00
or 2:15 we would go intc an afterncon program. About
three days a week, these were military programs nor-
mally out in the field, and on the other days we had
rhysical education. Thursday, Saturday and Sunday
afternoons were free. We went to school Tuesdays
through Saturdays. On Monday mornings the program
was entirely military.

A1l of the cadets were required fto go to church on
Sunday morning and also to go to church on Sunday
evening,., One could go to the church of his choice
on Sunday morning, but since the administration that
owned the school was Presbyterian, all the students
would to go the Presbyterian Church on Sunday night.

E: Were there any of the instructors af the academy or
at the public school that you attended in Charleston
who made an indelible impression on your mind, what
you did in the future, or how you thought about things
in the future?

N: Very definitely. The [irst fteacher who made a big
impregsion on me was in the grade school of Charles-
ton, West Virginlia. His name was Mr, E, C. Richard-
son, who was a mathematics teacher and later princi-
pal of the high school. He also happened tc be my
scout leader, counselor of my scout troop. As 1
became active in Boy Scoufs, I became guite close
to Mr., Richardson. He was a wonderful man and a na-:
tural leader. Mr, Richardson was a graduate of the
United States Naval Academy at Annapolis. He was
a sincere, honest man who tried to make every person
do his best in every regard. The impression I have
of o many young students today and the impression
they have of their counselors or their fteachers 1s
quite different than what I had of Mr. Richardson
and my other teachers at that time:; but I must admit
that he was the star in the sky as far as 1 was con-
cerned, There were a few teachers back then that I
didn't have too much regpect for because they failed
to demcnstrate this leadership ability to me, and
they didn't seem to direct their attention toward the
improvement of society. Fven then they werec just
thinking in terms of working from 9:00 to 5:00 or
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9:00 to 3:00 and drawing thelir pay as more peoplé seefl
o be doing today.

E: Were there any instructors at the academy who had
any pronounced influence in your 1ife?

N: Af Greenbrier Military School, I can think of six
or seven instructors who had the same attributes that
Mr. Richardson had. Perhavs it would be too lengthy
to get infto that interview today. To me, looking
back as a youngster, it 1s quite evident that T really
appreciated those teachers who demonstrated to me that
they were trying to work with me or with the group
of students, those who developed their leadership
and those who showed they were doing more than trying
to just collect thelr pay. Many of the teachers whom
I had at the military schocl now live in Lewlisburg,
and although somewhat older than I am today, continue
to be very dear friends and very highly respected
leaders of the community.

EFE: What happened to your brocthers and sister? Obviousily,
you've been the leader at Morlunda Farms.

N: Well, I'm glad you raised this gquestion because too
many people lock upon me as the one Nelson of my gener-
aticen at Morlunda Farms, whereas, 1t 18 not that way
at all. I suppose I receive more publicity than do
the others, as I am exposed to the public more than
the others because of my everydayv participation and
activities here at Morlunda. However, my brothers
angd sister have always maintained a very actlve in-
terest in the operation. My sister, Anna Marie Jones,
truly loves the farmand would like nothing better
than to make her full-time home here at Morlunda Farms.
In addition to loving the cattle, she is an expert in
Quarter Horses and has in the past owned a substantial
number of Quarter Horses.

My brothers, Tom and Eric, who are now located 1in
Charleston, West Virginia, with their investment
counseling firm of Nelson and Company, are quite busy,
but nevertheless, do spend a consgsiderable amount of
time here on weekends, particularily in the summertime.

My brother, Eric, at one time thought he might make
agriculture his full-time Job. After belng released
from the Army, Eric's first job was with the American
Hereford Association as an employee of the American
Hereford Journal. He travelled through several states,
making his headquarters in Memphis, Tennessee, and was
a fieldman for fthe magazine for several years. FEric
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was also a graduate of the Reppert School of Auction~
eering, and to this day, still enjcys geing to an
auction sale and working the ring as an assistant
auctioneer.

Tom and his entire family are also aulte devoted to
the farm. In fact, this brings to mind a statement T
1've heard repeated several times, and I think it is
quite signifilcant. That ig ag follows: My mcther and
father have fourteen grandchildren. There is not one
of these grandchildren who is unhappy with Morlunda
Farms. They all love the farm and 1like to spend as
much time here as possible. The age of these grand-
children currently is from about 14 up to about 28

or 29 years of age. All truly and dearly love the
farm and love to spend time here,

Today there are four of five of the grandsons who
might want to spend their full time there in Lewis-
burg after finishing thelr educational responsibhili-
ty. Each summer severél of these young men work here
at the farm. For example, last summer my only son,
Oscar III, worked here at the farm. Anna Marie has
two sons; her older son was in Europe working on a
farm last year. Her second son works full-time for
a coal company. My brother, Tom, has two sons, Tom~
my and Robby, both of whom have worked here at Mor-
lunda Farms each of the last two or three summers.
My brother, Eric, has two sons, Eric Jr., and Bill,
Both of these boys have worked here at the farm the
last two or three summers. We at Morlunda are gquite
fortunate in the summertime in that we do have a lot
of young capable boys in the family working on the
farm. Tn the summertime, we have no labor shortage.

E: When you commuted back and forth between Charleston
and Morlunda Farms in the 1930's and so on, certainly
the roads were nowhere near the condition they are
today. That must have been a half-day's trip just
to get started and get here.

N: TIt's easy to say that, but at the same time one must
remember that there weren't so many automobiles and
trucks on those narrow roads. In fact, one seldom
saw big trucks on the road. Surprisingly encugh,
it only took us abouft three and one-~half hours by
car to travel the 150 miles in those days. Today
it takes about two hours and twenty minutes to make
that trip. I'm afraid that when you drove up yester-
day it may have taken you well over three hours
because of the snow. When the roads were real bad
as a result of a smowstorm, we would come up on a
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train from Charleston to a little town cailled Ron-
ceverte that's nearby. Back in those days, the
railroad charge to come up here was $2.60 for an
adult and $1.30 for a child., T recall that we would
go in the dining car and have a very [ine chicken
dinner for 75¢. This 1ncluded dessert with all the
trimmings. If you wanted to go all ocut and have a
great big steak dinner, it was $1.25. Like T said,
it was quite different than it is today.

E: What was the name of the railroad?

N: It was the Chesapeake and Ohio Rallroad, now called
The Chessie System.

E: How did World War II affect the farm and the family?

H: Well, when World War IT came, I was in the Army and,
naturally, the farm continued to operate, Actually,
Worlid War II brought about some significant changes
in the farm due to our location. Ten miles east of
here is the world famous Greenbrier Hotel. During World
War IIL, the government took over the hotel and made it
inte a military hospital. As was the custom then,
Prisoner of War Camps were often placed adjacent to
military hospitals so that the better prisoners
could work in the hospifals and would also be a bene-—
it to the prisoners,

The prison camp near the Greenbrier (nee Ashford
General Hospital) was quite large, and it was occu-
pied solely by German prisoners of war. There were
nore prisoners than could be utilized by the hospital,
and i1t was asked 1if anyone in this area could use

some of them. The problem wasg that one had to take
twenty and keep them busy. You could not just take
one or two of them, becausgse one guard had to accom-
pany each group. Morlunda Farms dild take ocur com-
plement of twenty and tried our best to keep them busy,

some of the farm buildings that you see on this farm
today were built by those Germans without blueprints.
I've always Telt that they contributed very signifi-
cantly to our operation. Many Jjobs were done by them
and excellent work evolved, whereas if we had wanted
to bulld the same type of building in that day, we
could not have done it because of the shortage of
labor, and primarily because the cost of labor would
have been excorbitant. In order to keep the prisoners
working--for their pood and for the good of the coun-
try--we were quite happy to take them over and pay
thar a minimum wage rate, We all benefitted materiasl-
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ly, but it was a job fto plan work ahead for that many
people.

E: Did you ever have any problems with the prisocners or
the guard arrangement?

N: I was in the Army at the time and conly got home
once. I heard of no problem with the German prison-
ers whatsoever, I've always had a fine feeling for
the German people. I think they're excellent work-
eras and very responsible people, Teoday, T consider
them among our best friends and allies in Europe.

E: Hag there been any contact? Do vou keep up any kind
of contact with any of them who worked here at any
time, who may have stayed in this country or returned
to Germany?

N: Unfortunately, no. I do recall that one of the former
employees we had did receive a Christmas card several
times from one of the Germans whose name was Wrank,
Unfortunately, I have no knowledge of any other than
that.

T: What did you do during the War?

N: T was in the United States Army and served in the in-
fantry. Having gone to (Greenbrier Military School and
having had some basic background, soon after finishing
my basic training I was sent to Officer's Candidate
School in Fort Benning, Georgia. Affter completing
that course, I was assigned to the 63rd Division for
training at Chmp Van Dorn, Missisesippil. After about
six months training in the United States, we were sent
to Europe, and we went through southern France and
up through central France into Germany.

E: When were you discharged?

N: I got a medical discharge. While in Europe, I received
several wounds. The last wound was a big one. I
spent from April 19, 1945, until November 12, 1945 in
the Army hospital and was dlscharged late in November.
In the Army, I was Company Commander of a rifle com-
pany, Company X of the 255th Infantry.

F: Who was the Commanding General for that attachment?

N: General Patch was the head of our Army. The head of
our Division was General Louis E. Hibbs.

E: You entered the Polled Hereford business in 1965, mov-
ing out of the horned cattle. For many pecople, par-
ticularly the small breeder, this was a siegn that at
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least to them the times had changed. Did Morlunda
see 1t the same way, and to what effect do you think
that change had on the Polled Hereford business, par-
ticularly east of the Migsissippi?

N: We sold all of our horned Herefords in 196!, subse-
quently, we made the decision tc enter the Polled
Hereford business, The first Polled Hereford cattle
we bought were in October of 1965, We entered the
Polled Hereford business thinking that was where we
could get the best return on our investment, and be-
cause we thought the market was there for the Polléed
Hereford cattle. Why did we think this? We had been
showing horned Hereford cattle from 1940 until 1964,
I guess we've shown horned Herefords in as many shows,
dispersed as widely in the United States as anyone in
the industry. We've shown from coast to coast, and
T guess we've won as many ribhons as anybody.

The last two years in the horned Hereford industry,
we had a bull, Morlunda Matador 10th. He was the
undefeated champion bull in six Register of Merit
shows and climaxed his career by being the champlon
bull at the National Western Show in Denver in 1964
at which time we refused an offer of $100,000 for
that bull. In addition to that bull, 1n the same
two-year-old class, we had the second prize bull,
Morlunda Matador 11th. We also had the first prive
Get-of-Sire, the best ten head and were the major
winners throughout. 1In fact, at every show that we
had shown horned Herefords in 1962, 1963 and in
Denver in 1964, we were the major winners.

Now, getting back to Polled Herefords, Where did we
see our competition during these years of 1963 and
thereafter? Even though we were winning substantial-
1ly at all of these Hereford shows in competition with
great cattle from all over the United States, we had
noted that some of our competition was coming from
good Polled Hereford animals. There were several real
top exhibitors of Polled Herefords. Primarily, at
that time, Pennsylvania State University was doing an
outstanding Jjob under the careful guidande of Herman
Purdy. Also, Mr. Leon Falk in Pennsylvania was knock-
ing at our doorstep all the time. Joe and Walter
Lewis of Alfalfa Lawn Farm in Kansas and several other
breeders were showing Polled Herefcrds in competitlon
with horned Herefords.

We had been showing for twenty years, and I must say
that in the early part of this twenty-year pericd,
the Polled Herefords were not much competition. In
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the last two or three years we noticed that more good
Polled Hereford cattle were coming into being and

were being shown in competition with us, Seo, during
these early 1960's, it was quite evident that the Pol-
led Hereford breed had made significant steps forward.

When we decided To re-enter the purebred beefl cattle
business, Polled Herelfords were locked upon as a grow-
ing breed with substantlial improvements in aquallty,

One might quite naturally ask, "What's the difference
bhetween a Polled Hereford and a horned Hereford?"
Basically, I suppose, the difference is that the horned
Hereford has horns and the Polled Hereford does not.
But the answer is not that simple. We must recall

that the horned Hereford breed has been here for a good
many years, whereas the Polled Hereford breed began
about fifty vears ago from a very small base, back in
the days when Mr. Gammon of Towa had born on his farm

a naturally polled calf from a set of horned parents,

Mr, Gammon advertiged in the newspapers and found that
there were otherg in the United States that had Polled
Hereford calves born from horned Hereford parents. He
was able to assemble fourteen of these naturally horn~
less Herefords, and that was the beginning of the Pol-
led Hereford breed, They wevre selected primarily, in
fact, solely, because they did not have horns. He
could not select for quality or for vedigree or for
performance or for anything other than the fact that
they did not have horns. There a new breed was born.

In this period of about fifty years, the Polled Here-
ford breed has grown into a major beefl breed. As more
and more breeders saw the future for Polled Herefords,
they joined the ranks as did we in 1965, Additional
farsighted breeders with finances available, with the
good management practices and breeding technigues, were
able to quickly and substantially improve the breeding
of Polled Herefords. 1In the early 1960's we saw this
coming. We recognized it and we said, "Why can't we
be a part of this forward-lcoking breed?" We made

the step in 1965.

To me, the Polled Hereford breed has developed rapidly
and well and on a firm foundation. There is no gques-
fion today that the Polled Hereford is in more demand
east of the Mississippi River than in the west, I
suppose this is for several reasons. Many of the breed-
ers in the east are a different type person than the
cattle breeder west of the Mississippi River. Most

of the breeders in the Great Plains area have been
cattle breeders all of their lives, as were their fa-
thers and grandfathers before them, As we all know,



NELSON 18

a lot of us do as our fathers have told us to do. It
was duite natural for those people in the west or

in the midwest to remain with horned Herefords. On
the other hand, many ol the breeders of lilvestock in
the east and south were kind of a new breed of people.
They were people who had gone out of the cotton or
peanut business or other industries and wished to
diversify into agriculture and particularly the beef
cattle segment. As they find their way into the
beefl cattle industry, they are faced with the onpor-
tunity of going into the Polled Herefords, horned
Herefords, Angus, or many other breeds. These new
breeders were not told by their fathers and grand-
fathers that the horned Hereford was the only animal
or that the longhorn steer was the cnly kind of steer
to ralse, but were left open to their own way of
thinking. Hence, they had more reason to innovate
with different techniques. It was cbvious that a

few of them would choose Polled Hereford cattle.
Thereafter, the Polled Herelford Industry began growing
significantly. There is no guestion that it has grown
and prospered faster in the east than in the west,

and I think this 1s one of the primary reasons.

E: When you made that decision to go to the Polled Here-
ford breed, did you have established horned Hereford
breeders contact you in any way to ask why you made
that decision? Did you notice that impact at all,
of sudden interest?

N: Oh, to look back, I suppose there were several horned
breeders that asked us why we went intc the Polled
business. I would view 1t more like amazement by
the horned breeders that we made this move. T think
it raised a blg guestion in many of their minds,

E: What about the acceptance of the Polled Hereflord
breeders? Certainly, they were struggling for iden~
tity, and trying to scratch out a position of respec-
tability. ©Did you see a lot of [lag waving and hurrahs
that Morlunda had recognized the opportunity and had
made the switch?

N: There is no aguestion that this was one of the bhig
turning pointeg in the Polled Hereford business.

When we made the decision to go Polled Hereford, T
called the Secretary of the American Polled Hereford
Association, Mr. Orville Sweet, and told him that we
were thinking about Polled Herefords, asking him if
he would stop by and see me the next time he had an
opportunity. Mr. Sweet was then in Kansas City, and
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his reply was, "Would tomorrow be convenient?"
E: (Laughter) That's enthusiasm.

N: He Jjumpned on an airplane and was here the next affer-
noon, I was quite happy with Mr. Sweet's enthusiasm,
and his statement that they would do anything that
they could to help us. OQur conversations with him
that day were quite helpful., We wanted to develop our
plan for going into the Polled Hereford business,

This is the policy we developed at that time. When I
say, "we," I say that this policy was developed by
myself, my brothers and sister, and our farm manager,
Mr. Truman Lawrence,

Morlunda Farms at that time would require about 400
top mother cows to operate the farm in its most ef-
ficient manner, We knew that we could not go out
overnight and buy 400 cows of the right quality, as
this many top cows were not available in the Pclled
Hereford breed. We decided that we would try to ac-
guire the top peortion of several herds. We made the
policy decision that we were willing to pay extra to
get the top end, and we would not buy the bottom end,
even though 1t looked 1like a real bargain on the short
term. This was our [irst policy decision, that we
would go to 400 cows, but it would not have to be
done quickly. We reallized that it would ftake two,
three or four years to acgulire this number of top-
aquality cattle,

What was our first step in seeking out these cattle?
Hirst, we asked the American Polled Hereford Associa-
tion and several of our friends in the Polled Here-
ford business for help and told them what we were
looking for. We received a 1ot of good help 1n this
regard. We spent many months travelling and trylng
to put together a group of cows, We bought several
groups of cattle, two or three at one place, five or
ten at another place, and sometimes buying an entire
herd. We knew that i1t would take time, but we were
determined not to be in a hurry as we did not want to
buy a lot of cattle that we would have to turn arcund
and cull (weed out) at a later date.

FE: When you started to put together your projected number
of 1400, where did you look for your cattle and were
there any particular bloodlines that you were anxious
to obtain?

N: OQur first decigion was that pedigree would he secon-
dary to conformation. We wantedan animal that was
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goling to be substantial in size, have pood feet and
legs, and have a good udder that could raise a big,
growthy calf., We felt that the heef cattle indus-
try was trylng to produce beef for the housewife and
that was the end product. We had seen, over the
years, the many different and changing tvpes of ani-
mals. In years past, the industry looked for short-
legpged, short, blocky animals, as were promoted by
someé of the college professors in the ecarlyv 1940's,
We saw a trend toward a larger animal. In the middle
1960's, most people were looking for a middle-of-the-
road animal or a middle size animal, but we came to
the decision that we wanted a bigger animal because
we were raising beef., The end product was to market
beef by the pound., So, our first reoulirement was
going to be an animal with substantial size and with
good mothering and milking ability.

Now, where di¢ we seek the first cattle? Here we had
a good stroke of luck. A friend called us and told

us about a small herd in Virginia that was owned by a
very prominent New York banker. He said this herd

was for sale and was located only some ninety miles
from here. So, Truman and I got in the car and drove
over to Raphine, Virginia, to lock at this herd. Ve
had ftried to call the farm manager the nipht before,
but were unable to contact him, but we knew the direc-
tions to the farm so we went. We got out of the car
and started looking around the barn lot. The first
thing, we saw was a group of young bull calves that
were about six or seven months old that looked good

to us, While Truman was going throueh these calves,

T climbed one fence, looked across another fence, and
saw & bull that was about three years old. T couldn't
believe my eyes! I called Truman and I said, "Come
over here and see what I've found, He crawled over,
and he, too, could not believe his eyes. Shortly
thereafter, the farm manager did arrive and he showed
us through the herd. There were fifty cows and fifty
calves. All the calves were uniform and substantial
in size. The cows had good udders and were productive,
Without looking at each other, Truman and I knew right
away this was a herd of cattle we wanted. We deter-
mined the owner of the farm and got his adress in New
York.

Truman and I headed home. I called the gentleman in
New York and asked for an appointment with him the
next morning. I flew to New York, was in his office
for a period of twenty minutes, and we bought the en-
tire herd of cattle, Morlunda was in the Polled Here-
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ford business.

These cows were primarily of lamplighter breeding.
The bull that was very impressive was named R, F,
Domestic lamplighter 19th, and Morlunda soon made him
a Repister of Merit Bull in the American Hereford
Asgociation and also a Gold Trophy Bull in the Amer-
ican Polled Hereford Assocliation, We showed his
calves at state lairs and national shows in the season
of 1967 and 1968. That particular year, we started
off at the Illinois State Fair in early-August, then
to Tndiana and back to the West Virginla State Fair.
Then, we went to the Ohio State Fair, several fairs
in Tennessee, then to Cklahoma, Kansas City, several
fairs in the midwest, then to the west coast for six
weeks, and home in mid-December,

The crew had a brief rest, and on Christmas Eve, we
loaded up and took off for Phoenix, Denver, ¥Ft, Worth,
Tampa, Houston and Baton Rouge. I think we made
twenty-eight shows that year, and at each show where
we exhibited, we were the major winner. I subppose
this set some kind of record for showing throughout
the United States.

We were new in the industry, and we wanted to get

our cattle seen by the public. We determined that

the best way that we could get advertising and have

our cattle seen and also get acqualinted with the pub-
lic was to make a large number of shows. In those days,
we could show cattle and almost break even or win a
few hundred dollars each week, as expense was kept at

a minimum. Our boys would sleep in the straw with

the cattle., We did have a room in the end of our cat-
tle pullman with three bunks, a refrigerator and stove,
where the men could stay. Our MFX60 was the only pri-
vate cow pullman in the Unites States. Tt was 8i%

feet long and provided a good, cheap way to travel.

In those days, the rallroads offered incentives to
livestock exhibiftors. Rallroads took an active part
in agriculture and did their best to promote the im-
provement of livestock. The railroads, in those days,
had a good sense for public relations, and they wanted
livestock improvement for the future good of our coun-
try. Rallrcading of livestock was the minimum expense
method of transportation, Certainly, it took us a
little longer than it would by truck, but we weren't
worried about the time, we were worried about the cost.

Since ours was the only privately-owned cow pullman
in the country, we sent out pictures well in advance
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of each show at which we stopped, and the newspapers
were good to us. Many people would come out to see

the cattle car and we received much good publicity.

Later, other breeders did buy cattle cars, and this

became 'an in thing' for a period of years.

As time progressed and more breeders began to show
cattle, some of which did not Jook at the cost fac-
tors invclved in showing cattle, there again began
a trend of going by trucks because Chey could get
there faster. This, coupled with the demise of the
railroads and the very poor scheduling of railroads
over the years, forced us to sell the cattle car.
We then had to go by trucks as did the others.

Qur cattle, as I sald before, lelft home in August,
and except for about two weeks during Christmas, we
were on the road until the end of March. This put
away the old fallacy that cattle could not be away
on the show circuit continuously for many months.
They continued to thrive and do well and were always
presented to the public in a fine manner, as was
evidenced by our winnings. I guess this came about
because the cattle car was quite heavy. That car
welghed forty tons empty: Again, to save expense,
we put about forty tons of sand in the car whenéver
we approached the coast or any place that cheap sand
was available., We had a bhedding of about eighteen
inches to two feet of sand. So, the forty tons of
the car and the forty tons of sand, plus the cattle
made us a very heavy load, and this would tend to
make the car ride gulite easily. This should be
compared to a new car built in the 1960's of aluminum
which had a weight of about twenty tons for the car.
This lighter weight car had many shakes and vibra-
tions, and the cattle and people had a rough ride,.

The policy of showing cattle, of course, was a great
thing for Morlunda 1in our early days, because it did
give us the chance to let the public see our cattle.
We got exposure to people all over the United States,
through the fairs and shows. Of course, the maga-
zines wrote this up, because we were fortunate enough
to have the right type of cattle and were major winners
at each show. This gave us a great opportunlity to
establish the name of Morlunda Farms as a qguality
producer of fine seed stock, We were able to spend

a few dollars and reap many dollars in return in the
way of advertising, goodwill, and future sales.

In recent years we have not done as much showing. This
has come about for several reasons. One reason is
cost. Today 1t is cuite expensive to hire a ftruck
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and haul your cattle to the shows. Secondly, the
boys no longer sleep in the straw like we used to when
I was a boy. Now, the men stay in hotel rooms which
1s costly. In the past, our boys prepared a lot of
thelr own meals, and we were able to cut costs sub-
stantially. Another reason, and perhaps the prime
reason that Morlunda is not showing as many cattle
teday, is because we do neot like to get our cattle
as fat as 1s required to show them., Extra fat on

an animal costs money. Extra fat, particularly on

a female, hurts uture breeding, usefulness, and it's
ability to produce milk for its calves. Our showing
today is extremely limited because of two reasons:
costs and the usefulness to the animal,

Tuckily, because of cur reputation, we are nct forced
to show as much as a new breeder might be today. Just
coming into the business, he may be forced to show
cattle to build a reputation. I guess this is fortu-
nate for Morlunda, We entered the business at the
right time and had a good policy which 1s carried

over to the present.

E: Obviously, you took a lot of precautions to transport
the cow and, of course, the cld adage that they can't
stay on the road for a long period of time and so on.
How did you prepare that car to start this road trip?
Where did you have to put the cattle on to . . . (In-
terruption)

N: Because of your interest in the railroad car, I'11
give you a littfle history., We purchased the car
through a friend of mine who was in the railroad
business. Having asked him to find a suitable car for
us, he found the car which we purchased for $3,000,
Our railrcad car was originally built in 1929 by
the Nickel Plate Railroad for 1t's president, He
had the car specially built to haul his polo ponies.
There were stalls in the car for the polo ponles, and
at one end of the car there was a built-in ramp, an
opening door where his automobile could also be driven
into the car. Along the zide of the car there were two
big sliding doors., One the other end of the car thers
was a seventeen~foot room for it's attendants. When
we bought the car, it was pretty well equipped for us.
All we had to do was to Install several water tanks up
near the roof of the car so we could water all of
the cattle by a hose with gravity feed from the tanks,
In the room where the attendants slept, we installed
a propane gas supply. The car also had a large
generator which picked up its current and generated
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its own Juice as 1t travelled along the raillroad.
This generator ran the electric fans which we used
when the train came to a stop. We would normally
run the car along the rallroad with the doors open
so as to get the better ventilation. Of course,

1f we got into very cold weather, like in the Rocky
Mountains, the doors could be closed part way.

Initially, the first year we bedded the car with straw,
and then we decided to buy sand which was a great
cost-gsaver, safer from fire, and also a great labor
saver, We would replemish the sand supply for bedding
once or twice a year, whenever we came upon a cheap
source of sand. In the car we also had the great
advantage of carrying large volumes of food and hay
overhead., As one travelled from show to show these
prices were conslderably above a realistic market
price. We were able to buy feed and hay at good
prices at certain locations and would stock up and
carry these along in the car for several weeks at a
time.

Now, how dc we compare this fo the individual who

at the beginning of the show season rents a car from
the railrocad and outfits his own car, as we had done
geveral times in the past? I recall when I wag six-
teen years of age, a young friend of mine and I went
to Texas. On the way to Texas, we went down in the
Pullman car, and had & Pullman drawing room on the way
down. We got to Texas and then picked up two locads
of cattle to bring home. We left Albany, Texas, at
noon on a Wednesday and arrived home at midnight on
Saturday.

We bullt a deck in one of the cars made out of timbers;
big two-by-six timbers, and on this deck we placed our
bedding for ourselves, our food supply and also a
certalin amount of feed for the cattle. To build this
one deck on the car cost guite a few dollars. Of
course, this expenditure was made Just for a three-
day run, because we did want to be with the cattle
while they were being transported, as several of the
cows were calving while en route, ‘

Along the same line, other veople showing cattle would
build decks in their cars and they would lease a 36,
40, or a 50 foot car from the railrocad for a regular
gshow circuit season each fall., If they were going fto
be out a long time, they would build a rather long
deck in the car where they could store their feeds

and other supplies overhead. They would have several
barrels of water on the floor where they could water
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the cattle from time to time,

In fhose days, many of the tralns were pulled by
coal~-burning engines. As cne would go through a
tunnel, if you had sufficlent notice, it would be
fine. We would take a towel and dip it in the water
and then put it over our head, and we could breathe
and wouldn't get too dirty, At least we could bhreathe
until we got to the other end of the tunnel. Some

of the tunnels were a mile or two miles in length,

If we didn't have notice, all of a sudden we would

be in a tunnel with all of the cinders coming up, and
it wouldn't be too comfortable. ZLuckily, out west
they didn't have too many tunnels, and as time pro-
gressed back east, we went to the diesel locomotive
and there weren't so many cinders being thrown around.
This is just one of the things we think back about

the old days when I was a kid and traveling on the
show circult with the railroads,

How did you get your cattle from the railroad to the
fair site? Now, 1in some fairs they could stop the
car right there in the fairgrounds,

Well, here again, we must not think of today, we
must think back. What was our country like at that
time when the railroads were of importance to our
livestock transportation system? Nearly all of the
major fairs had railrcad sidings. Conseauently, our
car would be put right con the siding at the failr-
grounds. I think this was done with very, very few
exceptions. Today, of course, this is not the case,
First of all, there aren't many railroad trains and
secondly, new fairgrounds have not been built near
railroad sidings, but are built on super highways on
the Interstate system, The situation is qguite differ-
ent today.

Do you care to say something about the personnel? QOb-
viously, your manager has been with you a long time,
There have been cther personnel who have come and
gone, either with the show string or working here at
the farm itself. Do you recall individuals and maybe
a story or two about them that worked with you over
the years?

Our first manager was Mr, H, B, Wilson, who owned a
neighboring farm, He was a part~time manager here at
Morlunda, At that time Morlunda was a small opera-
tion of 285 acres, and Mr, Wilson was guite capablée
of handling his own farm and our small operation here,
A year or two later, as we bought additional farms
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and additional cattle, 1t became guite apparent that
we had to seek ocur own full~time management. From
that time until the present, Morlunda has had seven
managers. They were all men who were most capable
and of whom we're very proud,

What are their names?

The first manaper we hired on a full-time basis was
Kenneth E, Litton, a very able cowman, Many of you
would know his brother, George Litton, who is a pro-
fesgsor of animal science at V.P.I, in Blacksburg,
Virginia. Succeeding Kenneth Litton was Adam J.
McWilliam. Adam was with us here for a period of
four or five years in the early 1940's and did a
wonderful job of running the farm., Adam was a real
cowman, He left Morlunda for a better Jjob with the
American Hereford Asscciation as the area manager in
charge of the entire eastern United States.

After Mr. McWilliam, we began another search for a
manager, and we were extremely fortunate in acquiring
Colonel A. W. "Ham" Hamilton. Ham worked here at
Morlunda for a pericd Just prior to the time he was
breaking into the auction business. My father and
Ham agreed that Mr, Hamilton would come to work for
Morlunda and would manage the farm, but that Morlunda
would permit him to have a certain amcuni cof free

time to conduct auctions. Ham knew then that it would
take him a certain amount of time to develop hls auc-
tion business. 8o, for thenext year and half or so,
Ham was manager at Morlunda and would pick up an auc-
tion =sale here and there. After & couple of years, he
became well~founded in the livestock auction business
and as all the industry knows, went on to become the
fop livestock auctioneer of the entire industry—--
gselling not only Polled Herefords, but all beef cattle.
He will later be interviewed today and will add, T'm
sure, many interesting stories to this oral history

of Morlunda Farms,.

Shortly after "Ham" left, a young man was hired, Top-
per Largent, from one of the great cattle famililes of
the United States. Topper did a fine Job, and we
started off showing cattle., Unfortunately, it turned
out that Topper's family was not entirely happy in the
hills of West Virginla, as they had all been ralsed in
the West. We then employed Mr, Dallas Russell, a very
hard-working, loyal, wonderful employee who did a good
job at Moriunda. Because of his age, his time was
somewhat 1imited here,
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In 1958 or 1959, we had to seek additional management,
It occurred to me that Truman Lawrence mipht be avail-~
able. I had known Truman Lawrence for ten or fifteen
years, as he had managed several operations 1in the
area of which we were familiar., He had worked at
Freddie Macintosh's Farm in Spencer, West Virginia;
capably managed the Dcuble 7 operation in Durham,
North Carolina, and was later the manager of Poca

Dot Farms at Charles Town, West Virginia, We ap-
proached him on the basis of coming to Morlunda, and
Truman decided to come. Tn the fall of 1958 or 1959,
Truman, Melba and Their family moved to Morlunda.
We're making this interview on March 1, 1980,and I'm
happy to say that Truman has been with us now over
twenty years, and all of the Nelson family consider
Truman and Melba part of the family. In my c¢pinion,
Truman has no peer as a manager of a beefl cattle oper-
ation in the United States.

Truman is also an expert Judpe cof cattle, He's an
excellent salesman, but more than these things, the
one thing that is dear to my heart is his ability

and desire to work with young people. As I look

back at my younger years in the beefl industry, back
in those days, when most breeders employed herdsmen,
the popular herdsman in those days was a Scotsman,
and these Scotsmen had many secrets., I well remember
here at Morlunda when we had our own Scotsmen, Bill
Lawrence, who would mix the feed Tor the show cattle
and even I, the son of the owner of the farm, would
not be let in on many of the so-called secrets that
he had, This was the standard procedure for Scotsmen
in those days.

When I look back on this type of arrangement and com-
pare that tc the operation that we have here, where
Truman Lawrence 1s happy to work with young people
and try to teach and develop them and will share his
experience and knowledge with them, T think in retro-
spect, ocur country has come a long way. I'm sure the
country and the beef cattle industry, as well as the
people assoecliated with 1t, have gained immeasurably
with the change in operating procedures,

Truman has done a wonderful job for Morlunda and is
well respected throughout the industry as a leader,

as a manager, as a Judge, as a salesman, as a real
man and a good friend. I think his working with young
people is the pgreatest asgsset he has, While we're on
this theme, I must say that T think that one of the
greatest advantages that Morlunda Farms has in its
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cperation is the fact that Truman working closely with
other members of the Nelson family has attracted
people to work with us,

Because of the type of management we have at Mor-
lunda, there are many young men and women f[rom not
only the Unlted States, but from many foreign coun-
tries who desire to come here and work for a period of
weeks or months as trainees. We have had people here
from South Africa, Venezuela, CGuatemala, France, Cana-
da, and, of course, many Irom the United States. At
Morlunda, we have no difficulty whatsoever in acquir-
ing and holding the ftop young people wanting to learn
about the cattle industry. This has been helpful, not
only to the young people, but also giving Morlunda a
continuing source of good personnel for our cattle
ocperations. As these people go cut in the cattle
business, they look back on their associations at
Morlunda. There is no doubt that this has helped us
and will continue to help us with our sales and our
sales in the future.

I only wish that it could be sald that from the stand-
point of our farming operations that we also had the
same advantages. Unfortunately, the problems of putting
up hay and building fences, hauling manure and other
many menial jobs on the farm, other than the cattle,

do not seem to attract these bright, willing young men,
Morlunda, as well as everyone else, has a very definite
problem in regard to labor for the farm work in its
operation.

E: Mr, Nelson, one thing we can clear up before we go any
further, how did the name Morlunda come to be assocla-
ted with this rolling, gentle land of West Virginia?

N: My father was born on a farm in Sweden., This farm was
adjacent to the very small village of Morlunda, which
is located in the area of Smoland in central Sweden,
about 150 miles southwest of Stockholm, average type
farmland in Sweden. In the early 1930's, when my
father bought the initial land that now encompasses
Morlunda Farms, he said, "Well, we have to have a name
for this farm, What should we call it?" Then he said,
"How about calling it Morlunda after my homeplace 1n
Sweden?"” My mother, naturally, agreed with him, I was
twelve yvears old and had been taught to say what I felt
because our family always discussed things openly. I
said, "To me, Morlunda doesn't mean anything., Why don't
we call it Valley View, because we have a great valley
here, or let's call it Green Pastures because we have
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lots of nice green grass; let’'s call it something that
denotes this particular area." My father, in his
kind and able way, did not say, "No," and let me
speak., He finally came out and said, "Well, maybe
they don't recognize Morlunda today, but if we all
work together and build this farm into what 1T want it
to be and produce ftop livestock, they will someday
recognize the name Morlunda." I think we can say
today with a great feeling of family pride that most
of the people in the livestock Industry do associate
Morlunda with good, sound seed stock. We are all hapoy
that my father persuaded us to name the farm Morlunda.

E: Obviously, with the growth of Morlunda over the years
and your show activities, sales activities and so on,
you personally have played a wider role in the indus-
try, whether 1t was in the horned AHA Associaftion or
after 1964 in the American Polled Herefored Assoclation.
How do you see your role in these years assoclateéd
with Morlunda as well as the industry as a whole?

N: I don't like to talk about myself, I like to talk of
Morlunda Farms, but I suppose 1 can't dedge your ques-
tion. Over the years, I personally have been auite
active 1n many associations, serving on various boards,
such as the West Virginia Polled Hereford Association,
the West Virginia Hereford Assocciation, the State Tair
of West Virginia, the West Virpinia State Falr,
the Atlantic Rural Exposition, the Fastern Natlonal
Livestock Show, and in the early 1960's was elected a
director of the American Hereford Assocliation. When
Morlunda ligquidated its herd of horned Hereford cattle
in 1964, T resigned from the Board of Directors of the
American Hereford Assoclation., Recently, T have been
elected to serve as a member of the Board of Direcctors
of the American Polled Hereford Association, and as
Chairman of its Finance Committee. T think the Polled
Hereford Association has a wonderful staff, It knows
the direction in which to go, and it has a very active
membership, a membership with enthusiasm, I think the
Polled Hereford breed, based on its ability to perform
and compete against cthers will continue to grow and
prosper.

E: Let us shift gears, if we can, and say something about
the show experience that Morlunda has had over the years
and the important cattle that have been assoclated with
Moriunda,

N: Well, as we've talked a little bilt earlier, Morlunda
has a different viewnoint about showing cattle. Many
new breeders show cattle primarily for the purpose of
seeking advertising and introducing their product to
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the public, Just as Morlunda did in the early 1960's.
T think that the ghow ring definitely has a place

in our industry. It's one of the ways in which we
can compare our product to the product being produced
by other people within the same breed, The show ring
also lets us compare our breed to the other breeds

of cattle,.

Te me, one of the significant things about the Polled
Hereford breed, when one goes to attend a large show,
is the large number of Polled Hereford enthusiasts
witnessing these shows. At the recent National Folled
Hereford Show in Louisville, Kentucky, in November of
1979, I believe 1t was estimated that the crowd view-
ing the Polled Hereford Show was in excess of 6,000
people. Other breeds of cattle were exhibiting at that
Livestock Exposition, and their crowdgs were also quite
good, but none as large as the Polled Hereford crowd.

I think %this speaks well of our industry. It shows

the enthusiasm that our industry has toward Polled
Herefords., Certalnly, the show ring has a place in the
future, if properly directed.

We have taken another look and note the importance of
the performance ability of livestock, Perhaps this 1is
parallel tc the show ring. The animal might be shown
and might do well c¢r he might not, He might still
produce desirable offspring, Most of our teachers are
now stressing greater importance on the performance of
an Individual measured by various traits. Morlunda has
been very active in establishing performance records.
When we entered the Polled Hereford business in 1965,
we 1mmedliately began entering all of our records into
computers so we could establish performance records,
Today, we have as fine a set of records of anybody in
the industry. As we view our records we can see the
constant improvement of our cattle's performance
through weaning weights, yearling welghts, carcass
cutability, marbling, weight per day of age and various
other standards by which performance 1s measured.

Coupled with performance, we want fertility in the cow
and the bull, A dead bull or a dead cow doesn't pro-
duce calves. Perhaps one of the most significant

costs in any operation is the percentage of calf crop
weaned as compared to the number of cows bred. Through
proper management technigues, one can strive for greater
and greater efficiency. We have found at Morlunda that
by keeping proper records and by giving the proper
incentives to certain individuals responsible for our
production, that we have continued to increase our pro-
ductivity and our performance in many respecis.



NELSON 31

E: T think we need to say something about some of the
important cows that you had here as part of your pure-
bred operation,

N+ When we started in the Polled Hereford breed in 19645,
our initial entry into the breed was to be based on
not pedigree, but on the guality of the cows and the
bulis. 1In those days, we looked at performance and
productivity as the tools and the pedigrees were less
important. The first bull we acaulred was R, ¥. Do-
mestic Lamp 19th., Through the show ring, we made him
a register of merit sire, and geld trophy sire. The
next year, we made Supercl a repister of merit and
gold trovhy sire. Subseguently, we added additional
bulls and perhaps the most significant move was when
we went to Canada and formed a c¢lose and lasting asso-
ciation with Johnathon Fox, prominent Canadian and
owner of Justamere Farms at Lioydminster, Saskatchewan,

We talked with Mr, Fox and explained the type of pro-
gram we were trying to set up at Morlunda Farms, and
said we were in need of a good, young, growthy, pro-
ductive bull. We said, "Johnathan, the type of bull
we're looking for is not often found for gale," We
prevailed upon Mr, Fox to help us, and we came away from
Justamere the owners of a bull we later renamed Cana-—
dlan Fantastic. Fantastic's dam was the very noted
cow, Mandy 39N, one of the breed's greatest producers
of herd sires. In addition to Canadian Fantastic,
whose calves we showed so¢ succesgfully, Mandy was also
the dam of Justamere Anxiety Murphy 286Y, used so suc-
cessfully at Falklands Farm in Pennsylvania. After
Fantastic arrived at Morlunda, many people came to see
him, and they were Impressed with his enormous sige
and the way he could move, Fantastic soon became a
standard of perfection sire, but more importantly, a
true breeder of outstanding livestock.

Last year, we had 100 daughters of Canadian Fantastic
in our herd and also several granddaughters., Over

the years we have used several of his scns, and they
have gone on to be recognized internationally. We have
exported his sons tThroughout the world, The semen
from Fantastic has been used throughout the world.
When this bull died a few years ago, it was a great
loss not cnly to Morlunda, but to the Polled Herefcrd
breed. To show how far ahead of his time he was,
based updoOn our records, but more importantly on the
records of the daughters of Canadian Fantastic, two
years ago we went back into our semen bank and again
started breeding cows to Hantastie, ILuckily we still
had a large bank of semen still on hand. We again
used him after three or four years of nonuse. We used



NELSON 32

him again because our production records showed his
daughters as good mothers, The daughters of Canadian
Fantastic have left and will continue to leave an
indelible place in the Polled Hereford breed.

Over the years we have purchased many bulls from
Canada and several will go down in history as the
better bulls and the improvers of the breed, but
certainly, Canadian Fantastic will pgo down as one of
the true breed improvers.

In the early 1970's, the Polled Hereford breed was be-
coming interested in the blooedlines of R. W. Jones and
his Victor Domino cattle. There was no duestion that
R. W. Jones was the premier breeder in the industry
insofar as performance records were concerned, He
looked for performance in a cow or bull more than any-
thing else, He did not care anything else about the
animal other than his performance. He was looking for
a high weight per day of age at weaning and at one
year of age. The R. W. J. cattle became quite popu-
lar throughout the United States and Morlunda Farms
was extremely fortunate in acquiring what since has
proved to be one of the great Victor Domino bred bulls
of the breed, SR Victor 2nd. He was the first senior
performance sire of the Polled Hereford breed. In
fact, to this date, no other bull has gained such a
title. We have almost 100 daughters of 3SR Victor 2nd
in the herd today, and the bull is still alive. We
are currently using three sons of SR Vietor 2nd. The
semen of SR Vietor 2nd is being shipped worldwide.

E: We've talked pretty much about the purebred business
at Morlunda. There is another aspect at Morlunda that
1g just as important and commands just as much atten-
tion, this is the commercial herd. Would you like to
say anything about your commercial herd operation?

N: Well, Morlunda Farms is owned by Oscar Nelson, Incor-
porated, and all the stockholders are members of the
Nelson family, Morlunda Farms owns all of the Polled
Hereford cattle, the purebreds. In addition fo the
operation of Morlunda Farms and its purebred Polled
Hereford cattle, there is also an operation in Vir-
ginia which is owned by me personally, My personal
operations are staged primarily in Virginia about
fifty miles east of here. We currently have at that
location about U400 commercial cows and a good many
vearlings. Thegse cows are wintered in Virginia and
many are pastured on leased farms here in West Virginia,
T think it is significant to say that for the past
fourteen years, all of ocur prcducticn of commercial
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cattle has gone to the same buyer in Tllinois, as he
knows the consistent quality of these cattle. The
cows In this herd are of crossbred variety to some
extent, but many are Polled Herefords. A3l the bulls
used in this operation are purebred Polled Herefords
having been raised at Merlunda. This gives us a

great opportunity to test out some of the young bulls
at Morlunda in the early stages of thelr 1life by using
them in our commercial operation. We can get more
performance data through these channels, S0, when we
think of Morlunda Farms, one should keep in mind that
we're not only a purebred breeder of seed stock for
the Polled Hereford business, but also have a very
close relationship to the commercial breeder., The
management of Morlunda Farms is in the commercial in-
dustry and knows the problems of the commercial breeder,
This has been a great help 1in our purebred operatlons,

E: One last question. What about the operation of the
farm itselfl here, the lay of the land, so to speak?
Do you run mostly grass? Do you do any grain larming?
Do you purchase most of your feed? Do you try to be
a gelf-sufficient operation?

N: As Morlunda Farms is currently constituted, it owns
about 2,000 acres of land here in Greenbriler County.
Of that 2,000 acres, the bulk of it is in pastures,
which we try to keep as highly productive as possible.
We put up about 300 acres of corn silage each year and
alsc have about 150 acres of good hay. We like the
corn silage because 1t 1s cheaper for us to put up
corn silage than it is for us to put up hay. Because
of our location here in Greenbrier County and the fact
that nearly every morning we have dew on the ground in
the summertime, it is very difficult for us to cure
hay, and we seldom can bale hay until after 1:00 in
the afternoon. Our production of hay is curtailed by
weather conditions and then we do get some rain in the
afterncon, logsing a good hit of the quality of the
hay that is on the ground. Over the long term, we do
think our corn crop, through silage, is a better econoni-
cal venture in ralising feed. We can put up a good
corn silage crop with a minimum amount of labor and
likewise when we feed 1t, we do it with a minimum
amcunt of labor.

In talking about the acreage of Morlunda, I think that
it also sheuld be brought out that coupled with our
Virginia operations, the two somewhat mesh together.
In Virginia, I. personally own about 1,000 acres of
land where a lot of corn silage and some hay is also
raised. The Moriunda operation and my Virginia com-<
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mercial operation both rent several additional farms
here in Greenbrier Ccunty. We have something like
twenty different farms under lease, Most of these
house the commerclal cows from Virginia, but some of
the better farms with better fences and close by also
house some of Morlunda's purebred cattle. The farm
in Virginia has its separate management groupn and
handles all the day-to-~day operations in Virginia,
Truman Lawrence, the manager of the Morlunda opera-
tions, is also the manager of the Virginia operations.
Morlunda tries T£o be self sufficient in crop produc-
tion. We raise corn silage and hay, and we buy about
one carload of ocats each year. The only other feeds
we buy are salt and various other minerals,

The primary goal of Morlunda Farms is to ralse sound
ocutstanding Pclled Hereford seed stock on grass., We
think that the beef cow was put here on this earth fto
congume grass. ohe wasn't put here to consume f[eed,
because over the years corn and other feeds will be
needed to feed the entire world pcpulation, The cow
is a scavenger of grass and our entire policy is di-
rected toward the cow that will produce its best calfl
based on a grass concept. Grass 1s the cheapest and
best feed we have, and we are keying our entire pro-
gram at Morlunda toward the production of cattle that
will perform basically on grass.

FE: Where do we go from here?

M: That's a good question. The world today has many prob
1lems. Many sclentists and government leaders wonder
how we're goling to feed the world in the future with
its increasing population, This certainly is a pro-
blem., I think it behooves us to fry to produce the
animal that will produce and perform most efficiently
on the cheapest feed availlable. We must also remember
that we have to compete with other producers of pork,
Tish, and fowl, maybe even the soybean substitutes,

As long as we cattle producers can competitively pro-
duce a product with good taste and nutrition, fthe
people will buy that product. TIf we produce thisg on a
competitive basis, the cattle market has a great
future., We must strive continually to produce a bet-
ter product as cheaply as possible,

T think the beef cattle business and, vparticularly, the
purebred Polled Hereford business has a great future.
We look forward to mastering the challenges of the
future.
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E .

Iz there anything else from your list you think we
ought to . . ?

I might think of something later on, but that's gcod
enough for now, (Laughter)

Okay, I think we've done it. Thank ycu very much.

It's been my pleasure,

END OF INTERVIEW



	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

